




COURT O GINERAL S_SSIONS OP THE PEACE 
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PART THREE. 
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SECONT3 
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0 W.4 Balgf, Jq1, A sista .Attorney,.. 

Per The People C. 

3..PAANIC. Es q. 2, 

_'For the. Def endant. 

(A jury s duly mpaneled and sworn. 

OPLES  CASE  

called a a .itne .on behalf 

e P4eop1r,»ein 



excuse all witnesses in this case. 

TIM COURT:• Ye 

(AlI witnesses on both stdes are accordingly 

excluded from the Courb room.) 

-DIRECT EXAMIYA ION BY 1. BOHAN. 

(1 Mr. Stern, your full name bharies Stern. 

You live where 1 502 Convent Avente. 

And what is your business Aanufacturer of 

tomenls ats. 

.0,, And Vhere is. your place et 1mainogis 'A 6 and 

That is An the County of TSTM York? Coun 

of nm—York  yez sir. 

And is thit-a. loft buila'a 

Whatflocr he you your -place of business on 

A'The.twelfth. 

'Do you occupy the ent.Lro floor, I do. 

The eievattT, d ea that connectvith your loft

Q. Do.you know the delendant rank Rumford 9 

A lie mei 

n :Mat 'mpg ity 7. A, Ratuninc the 17:ecar on 



IThere is the freight elevatcir 

side of the buildIng facing south. 

the building is 912 the south side. 

the building, the freight 

ted one,' dld 

"a 

that buiraing at that ti 

look at eel tain a 

'on the table here, and I. ask you:ex 

these artiol A 

Do you know vitose property 

They are my goods• 

And' ithey vZere your c 

o, e articles are ? 

.Are- those coats anuactwL 'by you ? 

Were they in your place of businea 



an' aisle leading right to the freight elevator. 

VJhat was.: the last time. you _saw them 

Q, In thd afternoon ol December.. 2nd 

afternoon, yes, sir. 

are you. in the business of m 

A 30.., gears. 

Q, Are you familiar with the inarket values rof the 

that you see there 

I ask that the coats be marked for 

identification. 

(Three coat 'marked "People's 2.1thibit No.1  for 

identifi cation" I 

What was "the market value, fair market value of he 

05'7.50 each ? ,A t 5',5O each. 

'That would be a total of how much ? 6172.`50iabout. 

When was the ,next time you sati those 'coe..ts after 

4:30 on the afternoon of December 2nd 

lock in the West 3-0th Street station. 

.Who did you .see there 1. Three colored 

A- Mulford being one Hancock and 

And police officers ? A , Yes, sir. 

• And you identified the property tha 



Q, Were those coa- People 5 Exhibit number one for 

identification, shipped out or sent out by you from your 

place of business in *he regular course of business -on the 

2nd of December I A They were not. 

Was either of the mei Frank Mumford Alphonso 

Hancock, or Alexander Jones entitled to possession of any 

of the coats belonging to you ? A How do You mean 

Q. Were they authorized by you to be n possession of 

any of hose articles on that day I A No, sir. 

were to be shipped. 

Q But had *they been started in the process of being 

. shipped that afternoon ? Ad No. 

Prior to that, Mr. Stern; had you ernloyed any 

debective agency ? A I bad, 

A little lo de they can' ear you ? A I had. 

riad‘. You been subject to considerable loss before 

A ,I had. 

Did you employ T.Irr urdette Divers A I 'did. 

To: long had :he bon in your einploy as a detective 

About three weeks. 

And also Kra Casper A Cti,sper, yes sir. 

ct • Was h a detective also ? A Yes sir. 

0 Mr. Campbell ? A. No« 

:ust Caper and Divers ? A Yes, sir. 



1 BOHAN: That •is all. Your -witness. 

CROSS EXAMINATION :BY lua. 

Q, Mr. Stern, you say at the tIme that you saw the 

package of goods this defendant, with two or three others, 

ways tn. the custody of the rresti.ng officers A I saw 

them at the police 8tation. 

They were under arrest then '?A They were. 

Q, At no time prior thereto had you seen -this defend-

ant in .connectien. with these goods had. you 

on the car that day. 

Q You see 'him vth he coats d.id you 

I did not. 

iR.IVTOATON: , That is all. 

A I saw him 

BURD T T DIVE rit  5 called as a witness on 

behalf of The People, being first .dUly, sworn, testified 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY  

Q. !here do y,ou live ? A 41 VeSt Sixty-fourth Sta 

Q lar Divers wba' iS fQUbusiness A I am a 

private detective, 

And you are emiloyed by w1zoii. ? A By he 'Salo 

rational Detective Agen 

q 'Mere is their place of buriin sit ? A 55 Liber' 

esti, 



Q, Row- long have you 1) en 

I have been in the business 1. iv e r six years. 

Q, 01 or Prior to .the. 2nd. o± December, were you emp 

CharleS Stern, of 6 WeSt Thirty-second Street ? 

And how long had you beerL,obser-vIng the. premises 

West Thirty-second Street prior to the 2nd of December ? 

.6. Well, we were  on the work about a week,* then we discon-

tinued; and we came back on the .2nd as the result, of a. 

telephone call from Mr. Stern. 

Were you in the • 

the afternoon of DeceMber 2nd?  

• from the building. 

Q, 

ere were you. about 4:30 

Was your attention attracted by anything 9 A Ye 

What is the first thing you saw ? A I saw ,a 

colored boy, whose name I afterward letkrned %Tads Hancoc 

from the rear of the  entr nee; there are two .elevators in 

;thiS building; one .faces the treet the other,faes the 

_ide, nci you can't See the entrance of that elevator :Cron 

the street. This boy :Ian ook'oavie from the ree,r3: n 

had over his wiles. 'coat a yellow coat, wrapped around 

paper; he broi ?int it around and Imaded, it to ,a cola ed boy 

on the freight elevator those narn I afterward learned lc 

.TIonford. 

This defendant ? AS1 en I saw igg,' 



0 into the 6ar, into MUmfordl par,. and -61660 the 

couldn't ,see what they, done in the  car, butI saw thorn as 

they carne oub of the car again; I aw _them open the .door, 

and I sat' 211uMford hand-abundle to a .man named 

I afterward learned is Jones. Jones left:the building.. 

unford came out and watched him 

followed Jones up the Street,. 

In :Which direction did.Jones go 

Thirty-second Street. I followed him to Thirty-second. 

Street and Broadway, and at Tinny-second Street 

way signated him to Officer Doyle  who questioned him 

and then placed him -under'farrest. 

q At the -time he was placed under .arrest 

have certain property in his possession ? 

•And was that property afterwards identined bi 

Stern ? A By :PII74 Stern. 

In he Thirtieth Street police station 

k you to look at People's Axhibit tUMber'one 

ask you bether that is the property that as found  in the 

pozession of the^defendant Jones •(hahdinstritness-exhibi° 

that is lam property. 

That is your anstrer A 



(P ople 2xh1)it No. 1, or Iden., three- coats, 

received- in evidence and marked ' People t 

, 
one., of this date ) 

•- 17hen you arrested Jones did. you take him back to 
- 

the builditg ? -A No. 

Q You had a, talk wibh him did you, accompan—

ied the officer who arrested him to the 30th Street sta,tiOn.. 

I had no conversation with ..him. 

that did he say. A He said that he had receive& 

those coats from a porter, didn t know who he worked f 

but he was so e porter in the building. 

ItTha .el.se did he say? Anything., else, ? A He 

wouldntt admit to anything. He said. he.didn lolow they 

were stolen coats and he said he was en1roiy innocent, he 

was just going to take them up town .for this porter-, 

-117hen :as the defendant Mum,ford...ar—ested At the 

sane 1me ? 'A liNnford mis arrested a short time ieter. 

The 'Barrie clay. . A. The same day, the same evenin, 

You had a conversation with Vintiford ?, A Ye 

Q 1:111a b d say Mwaf...ord said d.t,da 

4 4 

a.nyt J.:CV" about'at all* 

g, rho ws.s- present when you Spoke to Itur ord 

•.A VI-Lan • the officer spoke to. itenford ? 



,I I 

I believe, Captain Mcqueen.ie was present. 

How about Jones or HancOck, were they there ? 

A They were there, yes, sir. 

Tell us what Tones said concerning the possession 

by him of these articles, in the presence of Irtumford ? 

A Well„ I v.till tell you, Counsellor I wan t there during 

very much of the conversation, after they were  taken to the 

'station use, I went over and got Mr. Stern - 

Q, Can you tell me anything that vas said by either 

Hancock or Jones in the presence, of Muleord concerning this 

transaction ? A The only thing I can sell rou is that 

Jones stated that he had come to the building that afternoon 

as the result of, a telephone call from Mumford which he 

had received through a pool room proprietor or a pool room' 

employe called Bugger Red or something of that sort. 

4113.. 171BATON: I move that be stricken out, 

your Honor 'pleases. 

TTEP, COURT: Strike it out. 

Now you say that you recall th co-defendant Jones 

sayin that he was ealled to this building by 2riumford; 

that right ? A. By a telephone call 'from Muriford yes:, 

Q And • hat is how he accounted tor his presence n The 

is that righ..4 ? A yes,. sir 

Q Nowv that.'d-d Multifold say when ;tonesasid that ? 

,ok d no oonverr3e,tion. with liumford at all 

1r" 



1 

Please answer my question. Vhen Tones zaid that 

o you; in the -11 esence. of Iluinford did ritunford make an 

reply ? A Not that I recall. 

Q, - Do you recall anything else that was said by JOTIOS 

A No. 

Q, Was there anything said by Mumford as to whether or 

not he knew Tones ?. 

Will you answer my. questions ? A Surely. 

Q Was there anything said by the defendant Mumford as 

to trhether he knew the defendant the co-defendan't ,Tones 

A Not in my hearing 

Q Did you have any other conversation di„you hear 

or, take part in any conversation with the de_ :ford 

A 1o,s ir. 

R. BOHAN: That is. all. Your rm. 

7EATON No quer I's:Ions  

R OB Efl. T C ASPER called as a witness on behalf 

of The People ; being first duly sworn; tebfied as 

fo 10'17S 

DIiCP EXAMINAT ON BY 'O.. BORAN,• 

(.1 'Were do you live 1636. Tina:9, r Ave/111? 

Mr. azper, that s your busines 
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Q You are employed by wham ? A G. V. Sales Detec-

tive Agency. 

• 
Q, On the 2nd ofDeceuherof this year had you been 

• observ. ig the prenrn.ses nuMber 6 West Thirti cond Street.? 

A Yes, sir. 

CVIn .the afternoon, about. 0 •o'Clock,. where were. you. 
- as 

standing ? A At different interv ls l't-afinearly directly 

opposite asl could get. 

Q Shortly 'before the coLdefendant 'i-ones was seen 

come from the premiPes_ ?auhber 6 West Thirty,-secOnd Street,.. 

here were you 'standing.? A Before he left there ? Di 

rectly opposite within a radius of ten feet, lip and down. 

Q, On the same side of the .St eet'? AL Opposite. 

Opposite ? A -Opposite. 

Q, . Mid you see the defendant Nhmfo 4 tbi)r, ? A I did. 

Q, "Did Yoseethe co-defendant, ReAcocx A I did.. 

Had you k.e'illtum-ord.or Hair ock 'before that time. 

A Idid. 

Q, Whet did: you see the defendant  141:pferd do 

that day, you nemn 

Q Yes A I noticed tOt Hancock left h s elevator; 

cou1dnt see the le'ator,bui theres a Ilan TAY 

leads from the.e water ntich brints yoU to the front Of 
i• 

idins; I noticed Harm& %o into nunford's elevzt r; 

had O en 118 arm; it vas not 7,irapped'ta 

.44 
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was Dome S1C eves l otrud.ing  'hi-oh I thought were garments. 

lie got. into ord.'s elevator. There was a, vehicle passing. 

at the time and after tie vehicle • passed I couldni.t 'see 

ne.ither trUMford nor Hancock. They were in the elevator. 

That is they Got in before the vehicle passed. About two  

or three minutes later, I noticed that Yurord_ and Hancock 

came -out of the elevator,. and lluanford at that tine had the 

He' then walked to the front. of the 

building, atld. Rancock and Mumford and Jones held a confer-

en e which la ted about two minutes. 'Rumford gave Jones 

the package. Tones then left the building and walked 

west on Thirty-second. Street "When he did my 'partner, 

Divers, followed Jones.. wet, Ha p ayed there. nc oc 

andlltamford. both came out of the building and liy:9,tched Jones 

as he walked 'west on Thirty-second, Street 

Q, •rnat did you do after that ? A I then joined 

Diteers and. Doyle Doyle had in  the meanirio arree'ted him 

.7ent to he station ho se: 

Were yoq, therewhen. the ao4age that was fou:ad on 

Jones was subsequently identtf ied by Mr. 

arty A I as. 

q, Did yott _tate part 'subs° Wen ti ;I/ .in-

Q, Yes. . 

When Ins Arrested ? A At vatoit 

es'6, of tho 



about half past five or a quarter to six. 

sta ien ? 'A Yes, sir* Pirst wre arrested 'Jones, and then 

we eme back and arrested MUmford and Hancock. 

Did Officer Doyle• plade MUmford under arrest 

sir. 

That did  Mumford pay ? , A He said he didn t know 

anything about it, and that we were crazy, and we told him 

we had been watchinis hii for a couple of ueeks, told him vie 

had him under surveillance and-bad followed 'him to the homes 

of former employes of 15r! Stern, former porters that he ha 

and we tried to make him helive that we knew what we were 

talking about. 

Mat did he say In reply to anjtiung you said to 

him He didatt know what we are talking abowi. 

Q Do you relaember anything else he said Y A At 

the time of his arrest he just said he dida t know anythinC 

tout it: didn't knaa vbat he was arrested -for; t:Ila 

the best of TV Rnowledge. 

I. that all you remevber he said 7 A Yes sax*. 

D11 yota ask about about the transaction of Iol3es 

these !ends aix-k; ? A Ho denied call that. 
A 

raat aid he say 41 Did' r ou ask ,hift ,dhether he 

'knew .Tones ? A t asked him vihether he Isileu Jones, 

(1 And .."..ittt did he sa A, He said he 41d not. 



A Yes, sir. 

And,dhat did h say ? A He did:not. He did].. 

know.any hung about it; but Jones said 

Never :mind. A. All right. 

Q, Was Jones there when you were talking to Lunford. ? 

A Yes sir, at diff erent intervals 

gi inhere ? - In the police station :? A In the police 

Q, What did the def ndant Ilumford say when .jones spoke 

He just .12.ade a denial aU evening 

AL-R. BOHAN: Your witness. 

BY Tffl COURT. 

You  savi this defendant hand- the package con aining 

the goods, warevand ner8handise. in evidence:nere to Jones ? 

A did. 

And at tihat:hour was that Betueen twenty 

140'00 after five and about half:pasL Live,  about that time. 

And then Jones vent where With the package 

,• minute , to ee vhat Mumford and Hanceerataa'do, Tn 

eame out o2 the %)uildins and vatehed Xone0 proeeedvres 

TV coun: Twat is al 



CROSS affATION BY 1. 7/MATO, 

Q. No, Officer Casper You s uated, as I understood 

oul that you  Were acro$s. the  street dui  mg the. time of your  

vigilance, were you ? A Yes, sir. 

From the building . A Yes sir, across the street. 

And all that you have testified to as having seen 

was from that poin,t, was it not A Fron dIfferent points. 

Q, Across the street ? A Yes s ir . 

Q Were there passers-by, were there pedestrians, going 

to and fro ? A Plenty of them, yes sir. 

Q So, what you Observed, you observed under the dif-

ficulty of your vigilance notwithstanding the pedestrians 

pas sing ? A Some times I was in the street,  yes. 

.Did you see Jones before he entered this building 

A No, he was there when I arrived. 

You d t see him enter the building A, NO sir. 

Q You didntt see him in conversation wita a man on . 

the outside, on the sidewalk ? A idd nob. 

Before he entered the building 0 A I did, not. 

You don; t know of any conversation ha zad. w4. a 

man before he entered the uilding, do you ? A No, he was 

there when we got there. 

Q And his zoing n you canit testifY tO 1 -

hum he was taere;. we got the /phone call that he 

Q Sot how lae went tUere and unqer tilat circtrnces 
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y u -can't testify A I cantestify as o why1iems. 

there, t,likrough a 3.2one call that e got. 

Q, That phone call . Officer Casper, that you are 

attempting to testify to was the result of the information 

you gleaned from Jones as .informtion that was imparted to. 

him by another man as doming frOM.MumfordE i.s tha.t eight 7, 

A No, I got a phone c-all from Mr. Stern that he got a 

one call from an anonymous person that lie'wasto be 

robbed,and e  ould • cote over immediately. 

Q. Oh, yo are speaking of that phon 11 ? A Yes, 

sir, that is the only one I know of. 

Q, But as 'to any other 'phone call to Jones, you don't 

- know nyth±ng about ? - A Only what- Jones told me after 

arrest. • 

Q 'Lou know nothiig xcept JQes told you 

Aft ac I s arrest. 

M. "MI:BATOR: That is all. 

RE-DIBiCT  A3IAT ION 3Y MR. BOHAN, 

Did Jones eU you how he happened to there, in 

the .pre enee Murford ? A Yes, sir. 

"Whe,t did he say ? A After 'Tones' arrest; he 

tol.d e .that he re eived,a 'phone call .at Bugger fled' s pool 

up ,in One Hundred7and. 11trt fifth Street, Ibolieve, 

or One Hundred and.Thirty seoona Streeti-and 4 fo,llog' at uhe 

pool room 'told him Viet prank rra,11.1:,:ord vasnuetd to see him 
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6 West T J.r - econd Stree • lie didn't know :why he 1-1as 

going there. 

• W.1,03A,LON: if your Honor Pie es, 

respec fully move that that answer be stricken out, 

the °tiler was, the other officer, .per ../7•110, . 

.$ TAO substance, as stricken ,frot. the r ego 0 

pufely 'hear ay. 

TIM. 'COURT: I think you asked. e 

B.OTIAN: 2 asked .the .cluestion, 

Th7.3 CODBT: Yfhat is your objeo 

MR. WI-MATO:V. I ask that the answer  

out on the around it is purely hear. -....;.m3 

SaltS that the pool room keeper, according  

• mony, 12 formed him that Mtunford wanted to  

MI • BOHAI* ' That is not hearSay... t, rig 

t cane - 

1EATO It is 1nc'omeon.,4xreieva1nt and 

t e r ial 

am askin tvhat came frpm the lips 

of theco-defendant n the presence' of .the 'defend nt 

-;hich called fQt a reply. 

COTEIT:. Ilovt, that is he questions 

BOTTAIT: Whether it contains loTowle 

cdvitr: Vas it soiaethin to wilich he was bound 

.to repiy• ? Tow sees the rule 1dflown in the Kennedy 



40r3rAmr747411W.A7-7777.-r711"%or,7%.grfow- i/Porg• 40* ir-40, 

9 

case .was thL nything. Said inthe presence and bearing 

01'he defendan was.nOt necesSarily competent evidence. 
• 

It had to b.t,,samethLng at neces3ari1r called .for a 

reply; Or.vtere a defendant volunteered to make a reply, 

alAer havitg heard a statement from another. 

Baw to a converse:t:to 'lb t2 Ghe 

co-defendant Jones.saYs '1 ot thls ropert rom 

Llumford" 

THE °UM - Yes,bat'conoernftno Somatki.r 

-11ePPeried up in .a pool ro61; I'don 

petent. 

' UR. BOHAN: ThiS. is Part of J' 

THE olouRT:. WQ Bolan', wznt 

eibout that. .Perifsp wibody kaOus 4 

.bOtter than I, X.Prosecv..ted, when. I tsf-:1 ; 

District Aitorie j, the case of Dr Kenedy17to "1,1:JAS 

convicted of murder Oa the first, degree and the Court 

of Agaeals said a mistake was made because vie allowed 

a-conversatien of this kind to go in. It was'rathr 

unfortunate) because ,the conviction vias reliersed; anci 

atterw4rds the jury disa3reed; and lie had all. sorts og 

trouble. I vill striket1'iatanstier. ut 

ansuer't ax.4 the jury.#11 disr ard 

DOHAat .That is all, 

CiOE ZIA710:1 3Y` 1,711W.:2037, 

.t1" 

Tr.. Csper cnc question. 1tu sa that 
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-vd-xile, You stood across the street from the preMises in question. 

you .noticed a man now known to you  as Hancock, hand thee 

•defendant alfumford a cpa; a yellow, Coat ? A I didn't 

testify as  to color. I :said a.::•sleeve, or solh.e• SIeet-es 

protruded. I, knew it was, a garment. 

Are you prepared :to positively state to the Eentle-

mon,of the jury and remember you are under oath.ln na.10,ng 

this statement-, that that gamete or the art4c, thv,t was 

banded., that you saw handed. to  Utlinfordi identical 

coat. ? A 1io INtioulAn state positively. 

, • MR.. VThLATO1t te all. 

BY. .15R! BOHAN. 

Q, Did the co-defect Jonee have anything 

at the time iturderd-hallded• b.im a..acomos;: 

.A Ate did not. 

• 1E1.4, BOEA1 That is: all. • 

2DWARD 
4To88O; attached to the  Twenty-141.rd Precinc• Detec7 

tive Bureau; called t4.45 a:witness on behalf of The 

People,' beinc first duly sworn testified as follows  

DIRECT EXAMMATION BY ER. BORAIT. 

You are a member of the. Police Departr(ent Of the 

City of !row York ? A I an. 

Q Attached to .1.7bat bur eau ? A Aitaehed. to :tb e 



Twenty-third. Precinct detectives. 

That is in West 30th Street., 

Between Sixth Avenue and Seventh 

On the afternoon of December /..,nd 

witnesses Mr. Burdett° Divers and. Mr. Robert Ca 

Q. Where did you see them first ? 

the first 1.;,,ime at about f ive °lc lock. 

Q, Mere_ ? -A At Thirty-second Street and. :Bro-adway. 

Did you\ see the co-defendant- Jones before you sww 

Divers and Hr. Casper ? A You mean- - 

tnat straight again, Mr. Bohan. 

-Did you see Divers 

A Yes, sir,- oh, Yes* 

Was your attention 

Jones by Divers and Casper ? A Yes, sir, Lt vas. 

something to you ? A 

1.:14 you 'see 4Tones SOU 

the south-east corner Of Th4 rty 



A..,It later proved 

to. be coats, the. property of itfr. Chairles Stern.' 

Did. you- have a talk with hi ta about the package he 

had in his possession ? 

Q. What did he said 'tTihere did you get 

this package?," He said "A fellow just gavei1 to mefl. 

I said "Where is he?" He said "Right behind you stherel, 

buying a newspaper" and I looked around, and brought hi 

back to the stand and looked for the man but couldn t find him. 

Q, Did you take him to the police -station ? A We 

subsequently did Mr. Charles ern iden.‘;'• 

property that was found in the possession of 5.011.00 ? 

A He did, sir*. 

O After that, 0:d you plaoe the :11 fendan.6 

Did you have a talk w" h the defendant 

Vihe_o did. you h 

office of the Twenty-third Pre 

prerises 6 'And 8 Vest Thirty-second Street 

Mutt did he 5a7?. 

by the none of ;Tones, Mumford?" Mulford srs 

t  know nobody". I questioned hr  kart:tier  

paid "Did :ma Aave a fellow, dawn 'here that you 'iere 



He said "T knOw pothing.-about 

refused to make any statements whatsoever.. 

Q, . In: the station house did You,:havea talk With the 

defendant Mumford while Jones as 

Trna.t-clid :thp Co-defendant Jones say an the presenc 

of ITUmford.? 

ruling I made beretofoXei 

ER. WHEATON: Thank your HonOr* 

Q, In the station house you had a talk With Mumford4 

e presence of Jones, didntt A I did 

don't tell us what Jones a 

In that talk what did Mumford say, In the 

"I know Jones% he said sometliiilt to P 

S those exact word's or not, I don't 

I asked him TWhy didn't you tell me tha.t before 

o )lied. to the effect that he didn't khow W 

'I know that 'Zellaa 

I know that fellOw, but I didn't*.c wrio 

Vas allythl.na 

Phone for h 

said "vaon; 

at a pool roani nas 



Was anything else said by him.?. A That was abow6 

the substance of all he said. 

q. Was anything said by Mumford concerning the coat 

A He denied all knowledge of he coat,. he said he knew 

nothing about it. 

TAR. BOI-IAN: That is all. 

'CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. VEEATOIT. 

Q, Officer Doyle, attempting to re resh your memory, 

you said. some thin„ as to words to the efx eot that he knew 

Jones • Didnt t :the defendant say that he. saw jones 2 saw 

that fellow, meaning Jones, in the building . A That5s 

quite right,. Counsellor. 

it. tee warfir insio .. 04, .. 09. 401., 

A L E.X AND R JONES oal ed a witness on 

• behalf People, being first duly sworn testified 

DIRECT EXALTINATION BY MR. BO 

71pre do you ? A 111 WeOne Hundred Paid 

Tk4rty-seventb ttr eeti 

3'onots I you vere indicted and a co-defendant  

meet were you not 4? A Yes sir. 

You ‘7ere tried before tTud.g.e. Moil-It:To and ao.:110, 



Of the charge the grand jury filed agains 

Does- he -live in your neighborhood 

Q, Are you related to him ? A No, sr. 

How long do you know Alphonso Hancock ? 

six months, sir. 

On the 2nd of .December of 'this year, were you em—

Q,. Where were you working 

Q, Bank s cab. are t, wher e 

One Hundred and. Thirty-third Street. 

iIotr long had you been employed- before December 2nd. ? 

six months, I guess1 

n the afternoon of D comber 2nd did you receive a 

And as a result of that telephone nessaol utere did 

the barber shop 



nd after that Where 

fin.d out ihat the 

message was that I. had received. 

9, 

Thirty-second Street. 

6 and 8 Wezt 32nd Street 4' A Yes, sir. 

Did yoU see Mumford there 

Did you pee Hancock there 

Had you ever been in 6 and 8 West 32nd Street- before 

that day ? 

Q, , Now, did you have a talk 

t in the, - When I entered the door ? 

Q. Yes. A I told .1Evmford I received his telephone 

and asked him What he wanted 

I will be iith, you in a minuecei .He was busy-N.rith 

his express, packages, bringing them down; and I took a seat. 

over by the deer. 

the time, and• He didn't say anythin 

a quarter past fivoit 

tov long had, you beer *there then 

in there about three auartere of an hour 

what did Itc. do then? 



4 he :91e Out and,'give. you anything 

n the car,.- 'he made a trip; somebody was moving 

•in the building) 

• some firm vtaa% moving in the "building, and lie came down, and. 

after the Last load he carried these tables up, and there 

was a fellow on the car with him, and this fellow had two 

'packages in his arms. He gave one to liwaford and lie gave 

one to Hancock, and at the bime 111w -ford's bell rang. 

llumford taken his package and gave it to Hancock, bhere 

vas tw ages, and Hancock taken the two packages and 

tied them together arid. gave them to me and asked me to sake 

the paokages up town to a pool room, up on One Hundred 

Tarty-ffth SLreet, and after I taken the package 

fellow that brought the packages doun in the car, 

over to the door, he 1,4,...as s tan ding there, and I asked him 

were these packages " 

-Villa did ,you ask A This fe 

Wher'e Nun:ford ? 

sOreevh ere; • I. dont t know vise 

I said paek.age yours 

ow that came down 

He said. "No  it is the 

eleyator boys He said 'litre you , Imo up t ov.rriVt 

3Pid "Yet'e said "Du 'you striol.3?". I etlitt "Yes 



Street and Broadwa:if. There was a paper stand on the 

north- side of •the street; and when we got about ten root, 

past th.4.6 paper stand he sa d "I o.,m going- to •get a papenn; 

and I was waiting for him; and I turned and I said "Get two 

papers"; and. while. I was standing waiting. r 

Officer came up and asked me what I have zn that package. 

I told him I didn't know what was in the package that the 

fellow that was buying the paper had e;ave the package 

Haicock tnd Tfurf or d and he paid "Wiser e? " I said 'Mat -

fellow standing over there" and the fellow looked at me and 

started o go through the crowd. I said "There he goes' 

and he say "That all rigi t, tell that to the twelve 

nen." Then he parried me to 30th Street somewhere, 

don't knoi.71 somewhere. 

you standing' at- the time the package was deliitered. to you 

A I wa's Sittin r ' 145 the door, he en-tram e of t.s 

buading« • 

(1 Inc preserit at the 3.1-4.e' the :.iC1 was 6:lye-A 

to you ?. A .The fel.3.ovi that b ought them down* 

n. ? A 1anoook and Mum:ford.  

(4, ak. Yiranf 0 ? A Yos sir* 

0-1n Te trotu the pivot. or car 

,-.T4scgtiren, T 



. . 
Prank, in hiS car, ancl this sG range fellow bad- another pack—

age and taken it around to Alpha/1s° s car.. 

Gave IL  to Vlimfbrd A Gave one to Mhmford and one 

to Hanco6 • 

'There: were they ven. Where was the pac3mge 

given to Mumford ? Vriile be was in his car ? A Yes, sir. 

. Q, Then this in took another package and Went to 

Hancock 's car and. gave him the  other p.ac3atge .? A Yes:, sir:. 

Q And you stayed out in the front ? A Yes, sir, in 

a chair, 11.y uhe door. 

Q - And did Mumford. and Hancock .therr come out to you ? 

A Iro, sir. 

Who c.a,me to you'? A Hancock came to me. 

Q Did you see MUmford e,4ve his Package to .Hancock ? 

A Yes, sir. 

And Lien Hancock did 1.vhat ? A It was trio packages; . 

lie tied them together. 

9, Who ..ed them ? A Hancock. 

Did Vitunford 'help A No  sIr V/ea went bacik 

on Ms oar. nis bell rafie.: and he went oa s car., 

Q And. Hancock cane over rith the psoioace *a. 

to you ? A Yes., sir. 

Q v. as th t Wm said by TSurafora to you beo ..„) 
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tors oi 'ada 'lour baore th,„,ip; 7ait-liere; 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, id you luzat; what you were- waiting for A No, sir, 

' I did hot. I thoughthe had seen somebody about a job. 
,.4 

That is the reason I came dbwn., 

Did you ask him uhen you first :came down :about the-

A No job I told: him I had received his tPho7fie 

call, and what he 'wanted. He said "I Will be with you 

"in a minute; I am busy; have -a seat". 

Did he say he had telephoned- for you A Did he 

say - No, sir. I teld him I received his telephone 

He said "I Will be lvith you in just a minute; . have a seat", 

0 Was ther e an ythinc, said t o you  at any t :1.me 1.•/121,1e 

you sat near the elevator ? A er e was ex-pres 

boys in the hail.. 

Q, No,  .by him A No sir. 

Q, You didn't- know what, • you ereNv  s5.ttJug, there for 

7-titt three civarters 0 n hour for ?'• :A: No, air, I was-

• waiting on Wm. 

Q, And when yo4v got he padres°, wlawb,inatruotio s rO, 

you °co ? . A t;i1b.a ? 

. ." tions d."4..d you roc i'Ve rfp.en you  ciot the• 

package ?' •..A ther.packagO. tto 
• 

Idle..Hour AriAdred taid„ 3TLtp Streo 
(•-
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And that is where you started to go to when you rem 

- arre -bed; is that ra&ht ? A Yes sir. 

You  Liade ,no inciuiries at the time you act that pack-

age as to whom the goads belonged to, did you..? A sir. 

You did not 9 A 1 didn't know what was in the 

• package. 

Q, .Were they so virapped up that you couldn't see what 

via s in - ?. A YeS, it' was uraploed up iji nice packages. 

Q, Didn't _I understand you to say when the packages 

were first separated they Were wrapped up by Hancock ? 

‘jk No, sir; 1  said when this ofellow came a UZI_ in the car 

-with Mumford they 'were did Up in two packages; . he had tw 

packages; and the two. 'Packages, he gave one to. Hancock and 

one to Numford, and Haneock tied the Um packages to ether, 

just like you take these two pieces of paper and tie thew-

together trating) 

C„ The property that you see there, is that the prop-

erty Chat was found in the package in t" station house.?• 

A I don't kno' exactly now, because 1i1 was flIi't. 

Q, Does that look ,like it (People's 1x. 3. 1) 

• Yes six'. 
- 

'MR* :BOHAN: Tim is all. 

cEoss 10. "*.;3'Y AIR VliBAT0130, 

mayl vino disappetrod, 41; • Jen,,f3 dmtzt. 

? What IciFid  1-itand to.."." 're r*.:16 

s- 7f4 

0144 
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.appearance was he Xus-b describe him as accurately as you 

can ? A This strange man This s trange fellow 

fellow, had on a felt ha,t. 

BY TIM COURT. 

Q, A colored man A A colored fellow,yes,•s r. 

BY TIMATON. 

Q, Short, you say' ? A Yes sir. 

Q. About how tall ? A lie looked to be about  five 

feet two. 

on are quite positive it was not this defendan 

•Ilumford ? A -Yes, sir. 

(Z It was not he, was it A No sir. 

7nere did you see this man ? A 'When I first savt 

;bab man 

Q, The ma,n .v/hOm you describe as being five iee . two 

A I saw him -ail MuInfor143 

Was that the very first time you 31.6'..d seen ? 

A Yes sir,. the f rat time t waS in the btuLdnL. 

Q, Anç1 w:t10:a dd yov next oee thici ma :A After ho 

gay' the package to Ician. doqk and EurnZordsbe.didn t Go 

side the buildting, be wet ztUs anding there- inside the - 

door,- to t:12G door.- 

a esai ? ord. -4ot you any 
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After Hancock as you testified handed: you the pack-

age " did. you sil1 see the unknown man ? A Yes sir, he 

was ayanding to the do,or when I got the Package. 

:Q,- Standing in the door ? A Yes, Su. 

CI Did he wark with you up the, street ? A Yes, :sir. 

Q How far ? A To Thirty-second S ur e e t and. :Broadway. 

Q, And there he stopped to purchase a pa.per, you say. 

A Yes, he said "Wait a' minute; I am going a paper' 

and I turned and said "Get two papers". 

Q And at that time Officer Doyle appeared on the 

e ? A Yes, Sir, Officer Doyle and three others. 

Q And. you: thought this man was .still at the news 

see. 

stand when the •officer Via talking 

I looked over and. sa him 

y oiej ? A Yes sir, 

You had a converbation With Officer Doyle at th 

t• me ? A Yes, sir, he asked me what was in the package. 

.Q, And what did you say ? A I told him I didn't 

know. I said the fellow at the news stand ve the package 

Hancockto  and Itturaford. 

Q, "Who did mean then ? A The f ell rir that cam-

up the street wi 

Not thle defendant 9 *A No, sir, ot him. 

Nan init'ArPoN: Tha t s411 ,vh 

RE:-.DIRECT ZW.17.241,TION BY MR. BORAX. 

Q, t the., t that Lae t 

Psomi 
C***1 
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handed the package toMumford and Hancock, and, tney in turn 

handed the packages bo you; that right ? A Yes, Sir. 

Q, Are you sure and certain tha't this unknown man at 

you. have described took one of these packages and gave 

Mumford A Yes„ sir. 

• Q, And the •other package..the g.a-'o Hancock ? A Yes s r. 

Q And after both packages were wrapped up Hancock gave 

them to you ? A They were already wrapped up._ After they 

was tied together they was Oren to me. 

Q During any of the time that you waited there did 

have a talk with. Hancock ? A Only. through the express 

boys and Hancock and the- boys was talking together, we wasn't: 

speaking about anything serious. 

Q,. Did you ride in the elevator at any time that after—

noon ? A Ride on tne elevator ? 

Q YOB* A IIC„,sir. 

-fiere you present When the officer spoke 

Murfrford in. th6 station house do you member that. he said 

about you T ,A The only thing I remember, he brought 

Hancock in there) and he üked Hancock did he know ne. 

Mumferd in there and said "Do you know, Ximford?" I 'old 

hear Muford 



l'}131•PECP rasa' 

1/1.a.EATON: Not;, if your Honor pleases,, I respect-

fully move the Court to instruct the gentlemen of the 

jury to acquit this defendant,n the ground that The 

People have  to Make out a case as charged, in the 

Indic tment. 

I will take from the Cons.ideration 

the jury the charge of grand larceny in its see and. 

- degree but I will; send  this case to7the jury upon. the 

receiving count. 

MATOIT: Verywell, your Honor Thank you. 

Instead of consuming time in a formal . opening, I 

simply put the .defendan.t on the stand and let him tell 

his story. 

THEDERE IT D. A IT  

ri U M 0 R D, the defendant hereint Called 

as a witness in his on behalf, being first duly sworn., 

te titled as follows:. 

•

 

DIRECT XAMINATI0T .T3Y no' WHEATOts 

Yihere do you live.? A 110 West One Hundred'an 

Thirty s cv enth Street., 



• Now, MUifOrd, speak up loudly, that Juror. ,number - 

twelve and all the *gentlemen of the.jurY Can hear you dLs-

tiflotly. There wereyou on the second day of December, 

1919 ? A 6. and 8 West Thirty-second Street. 

Q, What is that A It is a loft buildin 

Were you employed there ? A Yes, sax. 

.Q, By whom A - By Campbell. by Mr. Carlipbell 

Q, How long have you worked 'there A Been working 

there since about June or july when I, went there. 

Q- This year,. 1919 ? A This. year 1919. 

cember, I were you ? A Yes, sr.. 

You have heard the test4imony here with regard 

the loss of some* .coats by Mr. Stern., ilho .is an, occupant of 

that building, doing business there, and. you have heard. the 

testimony of the officers and of . Jones. Nov, tell the 

gentlemen . of th e . jury, his Honor and the gentlemen of the 

jury, exactly whit. you know and., all you know aboUt the trans-

action 'in A Well, during that day I was very 

busy b inging down express t that hour, and a man movIng in, 

and Jones .cane down and said to• .did you call me 

• I said' "N I says "I am busy novi I have •got 

to get rki exprOss down, and get this man moved up bAf ore five 

olocie.• He says "All riaht I will wait for y tt then". 

So *no sit dovin in the e mir .by the raddater, and I een:iiinued 
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bringing /hy express down eald moving he man up that vfas in 

he building  and after I got him moved up I was called u 

to the tenth floor,. and af ter . I went up the tenth floor 

the twelfth floor was ringing,  so 1 keeps on up to the 

twelfth floor, and this porter thart4 works for Charles Stern 

got on my car with  packages in his hanth I didntt  

anything to him, and in fact I wasn't interested and So. - 

stopped at the tenth floor, and a man got on there, and .on 

my way down the basement bell was ringing, so I stops a. 

he first floor, and opened the door and. the man thcv got 

on at the tenth floor gets off ray car, and t:1-1  porter gts 

of and tzi ds at the door, and I says to h •,q1 Fs ( 

down, big boy",„ so he moves one side, .and I pIos•my door 

- and goes on down stairs. The elevator. -girl 'ca here. 

She .says "I am. going 'up,. Frank". Zsays. 

will. wait for you"; so I waited for her unt1Sh got .rea4:!, 

ta• cone on,  so the car went up, to the first floor, and  

there was nobody in- 1,h 

side where she runs 

all, so she  goes on over to her 
I I. 

car an.disits in th /chair br the 

r diator, and after a while a man cane in., and ran him 

up to the fifth floorr and I oome8. back down and • its in 

the chair by the radiator, and in walks four men.- At 

that time Hancock cones down with his car and stands_ oppos-ite 

me. The four 4en.t1alkiY and ask me Mzi* name. 1 tale them 

' fray name %Aliprank Tiluinford, and he asked ITE4ncock hia n- le 



he told them his nanie, and he asked me  did I know Jones. 

Well, I said I thought he was talking about some Tones 

in the 'building; ‘so I says "N,o I don't know of ,any Jones V• 

He says "He knows you, and he has told us an about you . 

I says "That's funny; no Tones knows nothing about me" 

He Says "He is under arrest, and you are going,Go et under 

arrest, too". I says 1Por what?" Ho says"zones says 

you handed him pu' a ckage • / t handed 

Tones out no package!t. He says U00mo on,"; o c a,kes 

me right off the job and takes me down to Th iiaGreet, 

and he brings me there, and has a paokao Tr' 

and asked me did I know anything about fLt • rl 

I didr3Jt know anything about any °oats 

BY THE COURT .' 

Q, Did you hand a paeka .e t HlancOo A AU 

Q, Uha t ? A No, sir, That is all I i1 -16w e.,b out 

BY iR. TERATON 

Q Have you ever been convicted of any or ti  

Have you ever been arres ed .? i N 

I. ZEATON: Your witness. 

,BY MN COURT 

' "* Q, How old are you ? A Tv: ent y7f o rs old 

Married ? A No sir. 

Halregoxi been ln the ealikv A 1101 sir* IN 
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rejected, for flat feet. 

Q, That A I Via 5 'reject d, fourth degree f3at feet. 

Q, -Rejected because you had flat feet ? .A Yes s_ 

I was put in the foUrth. degree. 

Q, You were put in the fourth degree ? A, Yes  air. 

Q, YOu mean the fourth class I A Pourth degree  

feet and broken -veins 

QROSS .EXAMINATION BY M. BOHAN. 

Mumford, what was th ortel. 

don t know him. 

Anployeej. by Stern ? A I don 'J.' re 

has only been working there about two 'Weeks. 

A colored man ? A, Yes 

Did you ever ,øp eak to him ?, 

"A I 

How 0..d you know he wae etv yen. • Story 

A Because he- worked In there liringivz pac   cR.ges down, 

bringing them down to the .e.xpressmen, ant t them 012t 

d doing errands. • 

You took him from the Strn loft, on tI.i.. v,.wel-Pt1a:. 

flo on your •eletator A I bog pardon? 

tt You took him out of Stern loft, on the twelfth 

floor ? AYes .- 

Q. And. he had bovl me,ny paolmaei ? A• Twat 

Q • Tor/ many people tier° in the oar A Thr 

myself, 



Did. you take hiM.. o. the. ground floar A. Ye  

Q That did the porter do with those packages? A He 

stopped in the front of the door with them, and I said to 

. him "Going down". 

He book - them out ? A Taken them outside and 

stopped in front of the door, and my basement bell*was 

ringing, and he moved one side, and I 'vient down star. 

Where was Jones A Jones wa s tva11 the 

hal b y radiator. 

Q Did. the port-or give them bo Jones ? A I don I t 

know, as down stairs. 

Q, In the basement ? A In the basemen. 

Q, You left the porter, Sternts porter, J.' on. the 

greund. floox and he went out Ni,ith the two  

that right ? A I don't know where he went.. 

Q. You went bo the basement,.? A- .1 xitent to the base.-. 

Q, And when youoa.me up. did  ee the Porter 

A raen I came up there was nobody' in the hall 

Q pia you se Jones A 11.9. sire 

Q Did you. see Hancock ? A Ro, sir, Ha was up 

ttl,th his 

Q,How long after that did the ,poliee come there ? 

A Wen about fir wen or twenty :airiutes. 
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You heard what Jones said here k, day, did yoU.? 

A Yes, sir. 

-q Re says that this man gave you one of those packages. 

Did you hear him say that 7" A I did. 

Q, Is that true A No sir. 

Q, He also said thab this porter gave Hancock one of 

those packages.- Is that true ? A I dolatt kiaw sir. 

Q, bid you see this porter g ve Hancock erie of the 

packages ? A -No sir. 

Q, Did You -See Hancock give any of these Packages to 

Jones ? A No, sir. 

Ne,a, how long have You knev, clo es A I or 

Jones about a year or a .lit le over. 

Q, Do you live n he same nejborno 

A Yes  sir. 

(1 How long Do you see him 0 ,y nIgnt 4 No sir. 

C Do you know 'where he lives A We more than I 

herd htn sap1 111 We t.One Hundred a d Thirty-seventh Sreet. 

Do you.knou vibers he worked 9 A Yes, sire 

Iat did he do for a,iiv.ing orked in a 

ca are 

Banks cabaret 1 A Yes, s. 

.D0 you Go to nks cabaret ? Samot, es• 

Speitd sorae of your time there •110.12 Llay be 

onto. month. I only ',lava been around there about three 



times. 

Q Where is Bankts cabaret,? A Thirty-seventh 

Street - Thir y-thi d Street. 

Q One Hundred and Thirty- third Street A One Hun-

dred and Thirty third Street, yes, sir. 

Q Did you te1ephone for Jones bhab afternoon ? 

A No; sir. 

You knew, however, that 3ones for1ced there 

Beg pardon ? 

Q You knew that Jones worked there ? A I knew that 

be worked at Bankta. 

Q You knew how to get in touch with him f you wanted 

hLn did you ? A No, sir, I did not. 

Do you know whether Hancock knew ihere Jones 'worked ? 

A I do not. 

Q We e you evèr in Bank s ca 17. 

air. 

Were you ever in Jones t co th Hancock ? 

as"I know of 

Q. When thi officer came there avg, asked you about 

Jones, did you tell him that you. knew anOody b yhe name 

Jones.? A 'I thought he was taking about smilebody in . 

bu Ming nimed Jones and I told Warm), I diaatt

body nairt 'd jonetil,! 

iT'kn you got the statioi; 



U say -you knew that ma Yes , sir.. 

telephone message 

"Yes", or 

something aboUt a.'telephone message. 

Q, . What did you say? A I told hrn I.I7as busy .a 

that time, .and to at  ,around a little ru'iile until after 

got my express --down and I. would see him. 

Q,. Did he .say what he wanted :to see 

t time did he first get there ? 

•uess at about 4.:30, .20 minutes to five 

Did you talk to him after that ? 

How long was he waiting about the:: 

about 40 or 45 minutes. 

Where was he standing oriLLx 

in the 1iLI rith bunch of^ boys there 

Do you kno'vtyhat he was 

A Sitting 

with the express. 

Vbat time do you get finished at niiikt / 

%'5h.s be going to wait for yo p un 



ished.  that night - JoneS. ? A I'.don t know; I didn oask 

Did you see him before he left ? r. 

Q Do you know whether this strange porter that worked 

for Stern knew Jones ? A No,sir. 

Do you know what that porter s name is ? 

sir, I do not. 

Did you talk to Jones at any otb.er time during 

time he was sitting near the door-way ? A During the 

time Jones as sitting near the door-way . 

Q, 7es. A No, sir. 

Q, The only thing you said to him was "Waicu-ntil 

. am not busy and I will talk to you" 'Z A, Yes,sir. 

Q, Did you over talk to him after that ? A No, sir. 

Q Did you see any person talk to 11,11n 1 A NO, 

•

 

not personally. ' There was -a bunch of 'beySlin, the hail, 

and they all was - sitting down; I done 1. .kno* ;hat they Was 

talking about. 

Q When You brou!At this ,porter, e*,nt s p or ter down, 

:hea he wea t tord he street d you .'see, Tam talk to 

Jonet A He didn't ,o towards the street. o only 

. . 
stepped...off the .el eve tor and , ;.otd f the. door . 

And -you-rent ri, t duan And . told 
. 

Iiita 

70U e t * ' 144 



:Did. yet; see Jones there ? 

you know what became 

• yoil: been: badk into 

ureet since, you 'have. been arrested. 

Q, You have .been out on hail ? 

back for my pay. 

"Xones was In jail ? 

So YOU donit know how Jon06 

•afternoon ? - A Nal sir, I do not. 

Have you ever seen this ,porter that was employed- by 

Stern since that 'day I ever seen him since then..? 

Did you see these men Casper or 'Divers there 

A What, on Decem13er 2nd 

No, sir. 

• BOHAN: 

THE COURT: Is that your case Mr. V/Theaton ? 

suppose Mr. 3oha2' will concede 

good charter of this defendant 

c ova e do ny 

snat not. pro 



THA .COURT: e minutes each. 

MR. WHEATON: I am willing to submit. 

am willing 

Gentlemen of the jury, the, defendant in 

this case Titas indicted by the grand jury of this Gountj 

for the crime of grand larceny in its second-degree 

and for the crime of criminally rec etving stolen prop-

erty in the first degree. 

The Statute obligates me to say th t ''this defendant 

lished to your satisfaction beyond a reasonable doubt, 

and then that presumption is destroyed, it falls; and. 

the indictment in this case carries with it no Pre-

umption of guilt. 

I think perhaps, it' IS proper 

this time that this s a. very clos.e case, 

goin5 to aSk you to zive cautiorta 

stands" charted now is .serious end it eerrl, 

rnon 



second cIeres. I will take that .from youw consider-

abion and simply send the case to you on 'bhe question-

of criminally receiving stolen property lc-lowing the same, 

to have been stolen and ask you Lo pass on ti.p.a qi,xesticn. 

Now, the facts are very simple. There. is no 

question raised 'by *counsel for the defendant concerning 

-The perpetration- of a larceny. Before you can ,con-

was .committed, and I will. not 'define..to you again  that 

. amounts • to *larceny, because I have done that so many. 

•

 

times .during • this term. 

If this defendant did take ,the goods 

the merchandise which is in evidence, .from the possess 

of anyone, it natters not whom, and at L. 0, 

knew that the goods, wares an4 merchandfime were stolen, 

property, appropriated by means of Z-1,lri,gwiy, under 

our law he ',"1 ould b iduilty of cr Urec;e:Lving 

stolen property,3,4,tit;in manner he, 
• 

.got the goods, if -the goods• flihe mto 'possession 

gt any time, atid •the y the 

possession of another , • •'.e.: .rerthe e Ss 

o..? the or..tme of crim •••• b Z: VI 

SI t E; a -questloP e* 

StrIt tIF L 111.1171 "t1 



had occasion to read it 

during this term of Court 

and. only a part of it: 

U on several occasions 

"A person, who buys or rec elves any sto 

or any property which has he en Wrongfully 

appropriated in such a manner as to constitute larceny 

"according t 

"been stolen or so dealt with  or who corruptly, 

property,"any money,  reward, or promise or agreement 

"for the same, conceals, withholds or aids in 

"or withholding any property, knowing the sane to have 

" "been stolen"  is guilty of criminally receiving stolen . 

The degrees are fixed by the value.of the goads 

Where ib is under -fifty dollars 

stolen property in the second degree. where the 

value of the zo ods exceeds the igty dolIars 

it '17ould, be rec eiving stolen goeths , in the Z.irstde 

Nr, Wheaton, counsel or the • defen&..Dt 

çuestion here as to the. value of the goods*. 

in-g to the testimony of Mr. Stern; 

wards of one hundred end sevon 

This property were. of that value 

c....41 to have. boon in 

:31T t Mad 



The defendant has .taken the s,ta.nd in his .own. 

bohal, and he said, anon other things; that he did 

not kiwv the property was :stolen, and he denies having 

it In hf.s possession. He sayS he was • an elevator 
- 

operator in the place from Iri-hich the goods were takeni.. 

that he did. not .give he goods to Hancock Of to tones. 

on  the other hand, says that the goods were 

v.-Ten to 11-umford, and -that the .goods subsequently Were.' 

passed by Murnford to Hancock, and Hancock rwards 

passed them to Jones. Now, these are all questions 

• It does not make any difference ió had the goo4s,• 

f directly or indirectly, -these goods were ultately 

passed into t'pe 'hands of the defendant and this 

defendant at that time knew that the proPex'tlr wao 

stolen property, tx3At lb was the sbject of a larceny, 

. he stands just ,a8, guilty in the eye of the law asLhe 

man who last pu,ssed the property into t hrinds oif 

.bs in thi.p. 'ease, you 

tly.: -facts, 'beyond re.asonr:'. 



0 

The .defendant here. is entitled tQ the beneft of 

reasonable doUbt arising out o the evidence. 

u have had occasion to hear me define a reasonable 

doubtmay times during this term; -I bake it that you 

1,T,R in -a fey words) a reasonable doub1 a- such a doubt 

as that for thicha juror can assign a reason for 

entertaining, a sUbstantial reason so in this case 

you i1 apply thai rule. 

The evidence is very close and if you find that 

it is evenly balanced, audh a condition may create a 

reasonable doubt. ' Now, villere evidence is evenly 

Ialanc d2 so the scales neither .nciTh?...to. the one side 

or  the other. the jury May find a reasonable doubt fr om 

. that Onditio . 

1f.yoU 'have a reasnahle doubt in this casel.i.c. 

entitied to an acquittal at your hands:, 

The defendant must uot be jvdsed with c bia5 
• p 

.or- even vitt) any favor,becausethe. g: 

the zoods%is *here and says that goodz 

from his premises Tbat tb 

property bOlon 

.:'oubt't 'tut it does n 



• reasonable doubt. 

Now, the case :be ng a close one, I ask you to look 

at the evidence with care and wii,h caution. There 

was just enough. in the case to justify me sending it to 

the jury; hence it was ,that I did not feel that I 

should take the responsibility on my shoulders of 

turning this case out of court. I am going to leave 

it to you twelve gentlemen to say thether this defend—

ant is guilty, or not. 

You must as I said an instant ago, resolve all 

the facts a,gains t him to such a degree that you feel 

that his guilt has een ..established beyond a reasonable 

doubt before you can convict him. If you de not feel 

that his guilt has been established beyond a reasonabl.P 

of criminally receiving stolen property Itnowin r. the 

same to have been stolen in the first; 

guilby. 

You may take the 

(The jury then retired .ene. 

(The jury return 1:25 o 

TgE atorfic oi THE COURT: 

heu-e jou reed up oili. 

Oin,•;,:s.71,11•01i , • 

egree) or aot, 

jury, 



THE CTARK: 

TIE:FORMAIT:  Guilty of receiving stolen prObertiy 

in the -first degree. 

THE CLERZ: Hearken unto your verdict as it stands 

recorded, gentle en of the jury. You say -through your, 

foreman that you find th.e defendant "guilty of crim-

inally. receiving ;stolen propertr in the first degree 

knowing the same to have been stolen and so Say you: all. 

(The defendant is duly sworn and his „pedigree taken.) 

R. WHEATOIT: It your Honor pleases,. I desire to 

the- ound that it is contrary to law and against' the 

evidence in this case) and upon all the .grounds enwier-

ated in .the Statutes and that the defendant be grante9. 

VI 

THE COURT: Well, I w1l not pass on the motion, 

today. I want to examine the records and I me.,y grant 

Jour ma i;ion. What I mean by that isti1•.;,;:::.-fl,t• I 

fear that the Appellate Divn• In/Olt .sa,: 

• verdict is against the VIeiht of avid nee* Fo1.7ever, 2 

X, Will have 41.,0 take the whole thing under colas:Were: Jo 

I shall ask the Stenodraplier • t• 

0097 of the iiiinutee and I will, render 

the 5th of Xanuar,y,; V. 

P on 
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